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CHAPTER III 

CAPITAL ATHLETIC FOUNDATION 
ABRAMOFF: The package on  the ground is $4K per  person . 
tha t  [sic] covers rooms, t ee t imes and ground t ranspor -
ta t ion . One idea  is tha t  we could use one of my founda-
t ions for  the t r ip—Capita l Ath let ic Foundat ion—and get  
and make cont r ibu t ions so th is is easier . OK? 
REED: OK but  we need to discuss. It  is an  elect ion  year . 

Email between  J ack Abramoff and Ralph  Reed concern ing golfing junket  to Scot -
land, May 15, 2002 

RUDY: J ack wants th is. 
BOULANGER: What  is it ? I’ve never  heard of it . 
RUDY: It  is someth ing our  fr iends a re ra ising money for . 
BOULANGER: I’m sensing shadiness. I’ll stop asking. 

Email between  Todd Boulanger  and Tony Rudy concern ing suggested Tr iba l con-
t r ibu t ions to CAF, J une 20, 2002 

BOZNIAK: He [CAF funds recipien t  Shmuel Ben  Svi] did 
suggest  tha t  he could wr ite some kind of let ter  with  h is 
Sniper  Workshop Logo and let ter  head. It  is an  ‘‘edu-
ca t iona l’’ en t ity of sor t s. 
ABRAMOFF: no [sic] I don’t  want  a  sn iper  let terhead. 

Email between  J ack Abramoff and Allison  Bozniak, September  19, 2002 

A. INTRODUCTION 
At  it s hear ings over  the past  two years, the Commit tee disclosed 

and discussed evidence tha t  J ack Abramoff might  have used Cap-
ita l Ath let ic Foundat ion  (‘‘CAF’’), h is pr iva te char itable founda t ion , 
in  ways grossly inconsisten t  with  it s t ax exempt  sta tus and mis-
sion . Based on  mult iple in terviews and records, the Commit tee con-
clusively finds tha t  (1) CAF was simply another  vehicle in  
Abramoff and Scanlon’s ‘‘gimme five’’ scheme; (2) Indian  t r ibes pa id 
CAF, direct ly and indirect ly, knowingly and unknowingly, approxi-
mately $3,657,000; and, (3) Abramoff t rea ted CAF as h is own per -
sona l slush  fund, apparen t ly using it  to evade taxes, finance lob-
bying act ivit ies such  as a  golfing t r ip to Scot land, purchase para -
milit a ry equipment , and for  other  purposes inconsisten t  with  CAF’s 
tax exempt  sta tus and sta ted mission . 

In  fact , in  cour t  filings associa ted with  Abramoff’s gu ilty plea  in  
J anuary 2006, Abramoff pled gu ilty to, among other  th ings, mis-
using CAF ‘‘to receive income and make expenditures for  h is own 
persona l benefit ’’ and ‘‘to concea l th is income from the In terna l 
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1 Plea  Agreement , Factua l Basis for  the P lea , a t  para . 37, U.S . v. J ack  A. Abram off (Dist . D.C., 
J anuary 3, 2006) (CR–06–001). 

2 Id . 
3 Id . a t  para . 26. 
4 S ee Capita l Ath let ic Foundat ion , 2001, 2002, and 2003 Return  of Pr iva te Foundat ions Form 

990PF; and In ternal R evenue S ervice (visited May 25, 2004) <http:/ / www.irs.gov> (excerpt  of 
exempt  organiza t ion  search). In terest ingly, on  March  2, 2000, CAF changed it s name to Na-
t iona l Inst itu te of Torah , bu t , on  August  17, 2000, changed it s name back to CAF. 

5 Id . 
6 Other  Abramoff and/or  Greenberg Traur ig clien ts apparen t ly dona ted dur ing those years. In  

2001, Foxcom Wireless a llegedly dona ted $50,000. In  2002, SPI Spir it s (Cyprus) a llegedly do-
na ted $25,000. 

7 Capital Ath letic Foundation  (visited J une 7, 2004) <http:/ / www.capath letic.org>. 
8 Id . (emphasis added). 

Revenue Service and others.’’1 In  h is plea  agreement , Abramoff 
fur ther  admit ted tha t  he ‘‘knew tha t  these act ivit ies const itu ted a  
misuse of these tax exempt  en t it ies.’’2 For  example, Abramoff con-
fessed tha t  he solicited money from the Saginaw Chippewa Indian  
Tr ibe of Michigan  (‘‘Saginaw Chippewa’’) and a  dist illed beverages 
company, SPI Spir it s, ‘‘to par t ia lly pay for  a  golfing t r ip to Scot land 
for  h imself, public officia ls, members of h is sta ff and others.’’3 

This Chapter  will examine the na ture and st ructure of CAF. For  
a ll years in  which  CAF received, direct ly or  indirect ly, Tr iba l funds, 
th is Chapter  will examine the circumstances sur rounding the pay-
ments, and then  review how Abramoff spent  CAF’s funds. 

B. GENERAL BACKGROUND ON CAF 
Abramoff registered CAF with  the In terna l Revenue Service as 

a  501(c)(3) exempt  pr iva te founda t ion .4 At  a ll relevant  t imes, 
Abramoff and h is wife were the on ly managing members of CAF.5 
CAF repor ted on  it s 2001 and 2002 federa l t ax forms tha t  four  (4) 
Nat ive Amer ican  Tr ibes dona ted a  tota l of $2,075,000: 6 

REPORTED PAYMENTS BY TRIBES TO CAPITAL ATHLETIC FOUNDATION (CAF) 

2001 ........ Coushatta Tribe of Louisiana ............................................................................... $1,000,000 
2002 ........ Mississippi Band of Choctaw Indians ................................................................. $1,000,000 

Saginaw Chippewa Indian Tribe .......................................................................... $25,000 
Alabama Coushatta Entertainment Center .......................................................... $50,000 

Total ......................................................................................................................... $2,075,000 

To the genera l public, CAF descr ibed it self as a  youth  char ity in  
Washington , D.C.7 According to it s website, no longer  extan t , CAF 
purpor tedly: 

promotes the idea ls of spor t smanship by recognizing indi-
vidua ls and organiza t ions across the economic spect rum 
tha t  exemplify the h ighest  va lues of honorable, civil and 
eth ica l behavior  in  their  endeavors. The Foundat ion  
awards gran ts to suppor t  needy and  deserving program s 
and act ivit ies tha t  develop spor t smanship, and designa tes 
appropr ia te individua ls as na t iona l Ambassadors of 
Spor t smanship. The Foundat ion  a lso awards gran ts tha t  
specifica lly suppor t  spor t smanship programs and act ivit ies 
which  serve disadvantaged  youth .8 

The website cont inued: 
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9 Id . (emphasis added). 
10 In terview of Fred Bagget t , Cha ir , Nat iona l Government  Affa ir s Pract ice, Greenberg Traur ig, 

in  Washington , D.C. (September  29, 2005); see also In terview of Stephanie Leger  Shor t , former  
associa te, Greenberg Traur ig, in  Washington , D.C. (August  18, 2005). 

11 In terview of Fred Bagget t , Cha ir , Nat iona l Government  Affa ir s Pract ice, Greenberg Traur ig, 
in  Washington , D.C. (September  29, 2005). Stephanie Leger , a  former  Greenberg Traur ig em-
ployee, told the Commit tee tha t  it  was well known around the office tha t  CAF was Abramoff’s 
persona l char ity. In terview of Stephanie Leger  Shor t , former  associa te, Greenberg Traur ig, in  
Washington , D.C. (August  18, 2005). 

12 In terview of Fred Bagget t , Cha ir , Nat iona l Government  Affa ir s Pract ice, Greenberg Traur ig, 
in  Washington , D.C. (September  29, 2005); In terview of Stephanie Leger  Shor t , former  associa te, 
Greenberg Traur ig, in  Washington , D.C. (August  18, 2005). 

13 Email from J ack Abramoff, Preston  Gates Ellis & Rouvelas Meeds, to J ames Kaplan  (GTG– 
E000087920–21) (October  23, 2000). 

14 The Commit tee has not  determined who J ames Kaplan  was, and what  h is rela t ionsh ip was 
with  Congresswoman Morella  and J ack Abramoff. 

15 Apparent ly, the name Abramoff or igina lly contempla ted for  the char ity was the Capita l 
Educa t ion  and Ath let ic Foundat ion . 

16 Email from J ack Abramoff, Preston  Gates Ellis & Rouvelas Meeds, to J ames Kaplan  (GTG– 
E000087920) (October  23, 2000). 

17 Id . 
18 Email from J ack Abramoff, Preston  Gates Ellis & Rouvelas Meeds, to J ames Kaplan  (GTG– 

E000087924) (October  23, 2000). The Commit tee has seen  no evidence tha t  Congressman DeLay 
knew or  au thor ized what  Abramoff and Rudy were a t tempt ing. 

[t ]he mission  of the Capita l Ath let ic Foundat ion  is to foster  
character  development  by promot ing the Amer ican  idea ls 
of spor t smanship in  a ll endeavors. These idea ls include in -
tegr ity, honor , brotherhood, mora lity, leadersh ip and good 
cit izensh ip. S portsm anship is eth ical behavior both  on  and  
off the playing field; both  in  ath letics and  in  business; both  
as a youth  and  as an  adult.9 

Abramoff simila r ly descr ibed CAF to h is colleagues. Fred 
Bagget t , a  managing shareholder  of Greenberg Traur ig and cha ir -
man of it s na t iona l governmenta l a ffa ir s pract ice, reca lled tha t  the 
‘‘CAF Foundat ion  was someth ing tha t  J ack refer red to a  number  of 
occasions tha t  he and h is wife were very much involved in  to sup-
por t  inner -city ch ildren  in  spor t s ven tures and spor t s oppor tun i-
t ies.’’10 Although Abramoff disclosed tha t  he and h is wife were 
CAF’s founders, he gave the impression  to Bagget t  tha t  it  ‘‘had 
grown in to a  credible, respectable char itable founda t ion .’’11 What  
Abramoff did not  disclose, however , was how he was actua lly fund-
ing and opera t ing CAF.12 
C. ABRAMOFF ATTEMPTS TO SECURE FEDERAL FUNDING FOR CAF, AND 

FAILS 
In  2000, it  appears tha t  Abramoff in it ia lly sought  to capita lize 

CAF with  a  $5,000,000 federa l ea rmark.13 In  a t tempt ing to en list  
the a id of then-U.S. Representa t ive Connie Morella , Abramoff told 
one J im Kaplan 14 tha t  ‘‘the DeLay guys want  to pu t  th is gran t  
th rough for  the Capita l Educa t ion  and Ath let ic Foundat ion  
[CEAF],15 which  will be a  gran tor  organiza t ion  to help bu ild the 
Yeshiva  in  Kemp Mill.’’16 Abramoff apparen t ly believed the ear -
mark could be included in  the Labor-HHS Appropr ia t ions Con-
ference Repor t  or  the VA–HUD Appropr ia t ions Conference Re-
por t .17 Abramoff confessed tha t  Congressman DeLay might  not  
know about  it , bu t  tha t  ‘‘Tony [Rudy] [Delay’s then-Deputy Chief 
of Sta ff] and the sta ff a re working it  th rough for  them.’’18 Abramoff 
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19 Email from J ack Abramoff, Preston  Gates Ellis & Rouvelas Meeds, to pj@morella .com 
(GTG–E000087929) (October  23, 2000). 

20 Email from J ack Abramoff, Preston  Gates Ellis & Rouvelas Meeds, to Tony Rudy, Office 
of Congressman Tom DeLay (GTG–E000087925) (October  23, 2000). 

21 Capita l Ath let ic Foundat ion , 2001 Return  of Pr iva te Foundat ions Form 990PF. 
22 Capitol Campaign  St ra tegies document  product ion  (BB/LC 017923–26) (October  23, 2001). 
23 Id . 
24 Id . 
25 Id . (emphasis in  or igina l). 
26 Id . 

even  sen t  an  email to a  represen ta t ive of Congresswoman Morella  
and cla imed tha t  the CEAF ‘‘is a  wor thy cause, and not  a  clien t .’’19 

After  speaking with  a  Morella  represen ta t ive, Abramoff advised 
Tony Rudy: ‘‘Tony, I spoke with  her  guy today and they a re going 
to t ry to get  us a  let ter . P lease let  me know what  we do next .’’20 
However , a fter  reviewing CAF’s bank, account ing, and tax records, 
the Commit tee concludes tha t  CAF never  received a  federa l gran t  
of any amount . Fur thermore, the Commit tee has seen  no evidence 
establish ing tha t  Representa t ive Morella  suppor ted Abramoff in  
any way on  th is project . 

Unable to obta in  h is ea rmark, Abramoff would tu rn  to other  
means to finance CAF. 
D. ABRAMOFF AND SCANLON MISAPPROPRIATE TRIBAL FUNDS FOR CAF 

SEED MONEY IN 2001 
1. Abram off and  S canlon  Divert Louisiana Coushatta Money to 

CAF 
In  2001, the single la rgest  cont r ibu tor  by fa r  listed on  CAF’s fed-

era l t ax return  was the Cousha t ta  Tr ibe of Louisiana  (‘‘Louisiana  
Cousha t ta ’’) for  $1,000,000.21 The Commit tee finds, however , tha t  
the Tr ibe never  in tended to make a  char itable cont r ibu t ion  to CAF. 
Rather , Abramoff and Scanlon  deceived the Louisiana  Cousha t ta  
in to making tha t  payment  as par t  of their  ‘‘gimme five’’ scheme. 

Scanlon  set  the scam in  mot ion  with  an  October  23, 2001, memo-
randum to Louisiana  Cousha t ta  counsel Kathryn  Van Hoof, in  
which  he proposed three polit ica l programs, which  he collect ively 
dubbed the ‘‘Bat t leground Program.’’22 The program was purpor t -
edly designed to stop poten t ia l compet itors, such  as ‘‘Delta  Downs 
and P innacle’’ from infr inging on  the Louisiana  Cousha t ta  casino’s 
market  share 23 According to Scanlon , the Tr ibe’s money would be 
used for  everyth ing from polling to opposit ion  research  to phone 
banking and Get  Out  The Vote effor t s.24 

Scanlon  cla imed the money was necessary to manipula te Chr is-
t ian  conserva t ives. In  Scanlon’s words: ‘‘Simply put  we want  to 
br ing out  the wackos to vote against someth ing. ... The wackos get  
their  in format ion  form [sic] the Chr ist ian  r igh t , Chr ist ian  radio, 
mail, the in ternet  and telephone t rees.’’25 In  fact , Scanlon  advised 
using near ly ha lf the proposed budget  to in fluence and mobilize 
‘‘Chr ist ian  conserva t ives and minor ity religious ou t let s.’’26 

Abramoff and Scanlon  had other  designs for  the money. One day 
a fter  Scanlon’s memorandum to Van Hoof, Abramoff told Scanlon: 
‘‘I want  to see if we can  pump up our  LDA [repor t ing requirements 
under  the Lobbying Disclosure Act ] for  the second ha lf to make 
sure we don’t  fa ll ou t  of the top ten  [lobbying firms]. I can  ach ieve 
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27 Email between  J ack Abramoff, Greenberg Traur ig, and Michael Scanlon , Capitol Campaign  
St ra tegies (GTG–E000012245) (October  24, 2001). 

28 Id . 
29 Id . 
30 Email from Michael Scanlon , Capitol Campaign  St ra tegies, to Kathryn  Van Hoof, Cousha t ta  

Tr ibe of Louisiana  (GTG–E000011383) (October  25, 2001). 
31 Id . 
32 Greenberg Traur ig document  product ion  (GTG–E000011384) (unda ted). 
33 In terview of Fred Bagget t , Cha ir , Nat iona l Government  Affa ir s Pract ice, Greenberg Traur ig, 

in  Washington , D.C. (September  29, 2005). 
34 ‘‘Tr iba l Lobbying Mat ters,’’ Hearings before the Com m ittee On Indian  Affairs, 109th  Cong. 

a t  37 (November  2, 2005) (test imony of Fred Bagget t , Cha ir , Nat iona l Government  Affa ir s Prac-
t ice, Greenberg Traur ig). 

35 Id . 

th is if I can  run  some of the money for  the Cousha t tas th rough the 
firm and then  get  it  to CCS.’’27 

Concerned, Scanlon  asked: ‘‘Are u  [sic] sure Bagget t  will let  you  
r ip it  back out?’’28 

Abramoff responded, ‘‘If not , it ’ll be a  cold day in  hell tha t  they 
get  th is check from my grubby hands!’’29 

To convince the Tr ibe to pay $1,000,000 in to Greenberg Traur ig, 
Scanlon  expla ined to Van Hoof, ‘‘We broke th is in to two invoices— 
one to be pa id to Greenberg Traur ig for  1m, and one pa id to Cap-
itol Campaign  St ra tegies—[Greenberg Traur ig’s] public a ffa ir s en t i-
ty for  the ba lance. We usua lly just  invoice you  through Capitol 
Campaign  St ra tegies so the Lawyers a t  the firm rest  easy while we 
a re ou t  burn ing the count ry side.’’30 

He cont inued, ‘‘In  th is instance however  we plan  to do some 
th ings th rough the law firm umbrella  due to their  h igh ly sensit ive 
na ture and confident ia lity reasons. I ha te h iding behind lawyers— 
but  we a re going to do some crazy stuff on  th is one—so I guess it s 
ok:) :) [sic]’’31 

In  fur therance of the ‘‘gimme five’’ scheme, Scanlon  apparen t ly 
fabr ica ted and submit ted to the Louisiana  Cousha t ta  an  invoice in  
Greenberg Traur ig’s name. The invoice iden t ified the purpose of 
the payment  as ‘‘Public Affa ir s Services.’’32 Cont ra ry to Scanlon’s 
represen ta t ions, Capitol Campaign  St ra tegies (‘‘CCS’’) was not  
Greenberg Traur ig’s public a ffa ir s en t ity.33 Nor  was Scanlon  au-
thor ized to prepare or  send an  invoice on  Greenberg Traur ig’s be-
ha lf.34 At  the November  2, 2005 hear ing before the Commit tee, 
Bagget t  t est ified: 

THE CHAIRMAN: Was Mr . Scanlon  au thor ized to send an  in -
voice on  Greenberg Traur ig’s beha lf? 
MR. BAGGETT: No, sir ; he was not . 
... 
MR. BAGGETT: —the invoice exhibit  99 purpor t ing to be 
from Greenberg Traur ig, ‘‘Greenberg’’ is misspelled. 
THE CHAIRMAN: Okay. Tha t  is an  impor tan t  poin t . Thank 
you  for  br inging it  up, Mr . Bagget t . [Laughter .] 
MR. BAGGETT: I doubt  we would be issu ing an  invoice with  
our  name misspelled.35 

Despite the lack of au thor iza t ion , the Commit tee finds tha t  Scan-
lon  sen t , or  caused to be sen t , the fabr ica ted invoice to the Lou-
isiana  Cousha t ta  for  payment . 

Based on  Scanlon’s represen ta t ions, the Tr ibe understood the 
$1,000,000 payment  to Greenberg Traur ig would be used for  the 
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36 ‘‘Tr iba l Lobbying Mat ters,’’ Hearings before the Com m ittee On Indian  Affairs, 109th  Cong. 
a t  37 (November  2, 2005) (test imony of Kathryn  Van Hoof, former  counsel, Cousha t ta  Tr ibe of 
Louisiana). 

37 In terview of William Worfel, former  Vice Chairman, Cousha t ta  Tr ibe of Louisiana , in  Wash-
ington , D.C. (September  13–14, 2005). 

38 In terview of Kathryn  Van Hoof, former  counsel, Cousha t ta  Tr ibe of Louisiana , in  Lecompte, 
Louisiana  (September  23, 2005); In terview of William Worfel, former  Vice Chairman, Cousha t ta  
Tr ibe of Louisiana , in  Washington , D.C. (September  13–14, 2005). 

39 In terview of Kathryn  Van Hoof, former  counsel, Cousha t ta  Tr ibe of Louisiana , in  Lecompte, 
Louisiana  (September  23, 2005); In terview of William Worfel, former  Vice Chairman, Cousha t ta  
Tr ibe of Louisiana , in  Washington , D.C. (September  13–14, 2005). 

40 Id . 
41 Greenberg Traur ig document  product ion  (GTG023510–ACCT) (October  30, 2001). 
42 In terview of Fred Bagget t , Cha ir , Nat iona l Government  Affa ir s Pract ice, Greenberg Traur ig, 

in  Washington , D.C. (September  29, 2005). 
43 Id . 
44 Email from J ack Abramoff, Greenberg Traur ig, to Fred Bagget t , Greenberg Traur ig (GTG– 

E000252969) (November  5, 2001). 

Tr ibe’s polit ica l act ivit ies, and cer ta in ly never  in tended for  it  to be 
a  char itable cont r ibu t ion : 

THE CHAIRMAN: Ms. Van  Hoof, was it  your  understanding 
tha t  the $1 million  was going to be used for  polit ica l act ivi-
t ies benefit t ing the t r ibe? 
MS. VAN HOOF: Yes. 
THE CHAIRMAN: Did the t r ibe au thor ize anyone to use tha t  
$1 million  as a  char itable cont r ibu t ion  to the Capita l Ath-
let ic Foundat ion? 
MS. VAN HOOF: No. 
THE CHAIRMAN: Did the t r ibe ever  in tend to make a  $1 
million  cont r ibu t ion  to J ack Abramoff’s persona l char ity? 
MS. VAN HOOF: No.36 

William Worfel, former  Vice Chairman of the Tr ibe, simila r ly 
told the Commit tee tha t  the Tr iba l Council had never  au thor ized 
tha t  $1,000,000 to be used as a  char itable cont r ibu t ion—to CAF or  
any other  en t ity.37 Indeed, neither  Van  Hoof nor  Worfel had any 
contemporaneous knowledge of CAF.38 At  no poin t  did Scanlon  or  
Abramoff tell the Louisiana  Cousha t ta  tha t  it s money would be 
used for  anyth ing other  than  the Tr ibe’s polit ica l act ivit ies.39 In  
fact , un t il the Commit tee’s invest iga t ion , the Louisiana  Cousha t ta  
did not  even  know it  was listed as a  $1,000,000 donor  to CAF.40 

Based on  Scanlon’s misrepresen ta t ions, on  October  30, 2001, the 
Louisiana  Cousha t ta  executed a  check for  $1,000,000 to Greenberg 
Traur ig.41 On November  2, 2001, Greenberg Traur ig received the 
$1,000,000 check, which  it  deposited in to it s t rust  account .42 

The next  phase of the scheme required Abramoff to deceive h is 
former  employer , Greenberg Traur ig. To ext ract  the money from 
Greenberg Traur ig’s t rust  account , Abramoff told the firm tha t  the 
Louisiana  Cousha t ta  knew about  the payment  to CAF and had au-
thor ized it .43 On November  5, 2001, Abramoff sen t  an  email to 
Bagget t  en t it led ‘‘Cousha t ta  million  dolla r  check,’’ and noted, ‘‘It  is 
burn ing a  hole in  my pocket . P lease let ’s cha t  about  th is today to 
get  it  worked out .’’44 Somet ime a round tha t  email, Abramoff ca lled 
Bagget t  in  Ta llahassee, ‘‘to ta lk about  a  cont r ibu t ion  tha t  a  t r ibe, 
the Cousha t ta , tha t  a  t r ibe wanted to make to Capita l Ath let ic 
Foundat ion , tha t  they had given  us a  check for  a  million  dolla rs 
and wanted to pu t  it  in  a  t rust  account  so we could give it  to Cap-
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45 In terview of Fred Bagget t , Cha ir , Nat iona l Government  Affa ir s Pract ice, Greenberg Traur ig, 
in  Washington , D.C. (September  29, 2005). 

46 Id . 
47 Id . 
48 Email from Michael Scanlon , Capitol Campaign  St ra tegies, to J ack Abramoff, Greenberg 

Traur ig (GTG–E000012276) (November  7, 2001). 
49 Capita l Ath let ic Foundat ion , 2001 Return  of Pr iva te Foundat ions Form 990PF. 
50 Id . There appears to be a  discrepancy in  the tax return . Sta tement  5 to the return  cites 

$115,930 as the expenses spent  on  home school program expenses. 
51 Id . 
52 S ee Peter  Stone, T ribes Gave T o Abram off Foundation , Na t iona l J ourna l, March  12, 2004, 

a t  1866; Michael S. Gerber  and Alber t  E isele, R epublican  power broker J ack  Abram off on  lob-
bying in  the Bush  II era, The Hill, March  26, 2003; see also Email from Gail Halpern , May & 
Barnhard, to Susan  Baker  (MB–002124) (September  27, 2002). 

53 S ee Eshkol, Inc., 2001 Form 990. Eshkol’s t ax return  is signed by Sam Hook as execut ive 
director  for  the school. Hook is a  former  cont ract  employee a t  Greenberg Traur ig, the husband 
of Shana  Tesler , and owner  and president  of two other  Abramoff-cont rolled en t it ies, Grassroots 

Cont inued 

it a l Ath let ic Foundat ion .’’45 Per  Abramoff’s direct ion , Greenberg 
Traur ig pa id the Louisiana  Cousha t ta ’s $1,000,000 to CAF.46 

The Commit tee finds tha t  the Louisiana  Cousha t ta ’s $1,000,000 
never  went  to the Tr ibe’s polit ica l act ivit ies. It  instead padded the 
coffers of CAF for  Abramoff’s discret ionary use. Notably, Abramoff 
did include the $1,000,000 on  the Lobbying Disclosure Act  filing for  
the Louisiana  Cousha t ta  in  2001.47 

The Commit tee harbors no doubt  tha t  the $1,000,000 was a  pay-
ment  obta ined as par t  of the duo’s ‘‘gimme five’’ scheme. In  a  No-
vember  7, 2001, email en t it led ‘‘Give me five,’’ Scanlon  listed 
Abramoff’s t ake from their  scheme: 

The overa ll numbers in  the amounts I owe you  a re exact ly 
$1 million  smaller  tha t  [sic] what  we projected last  month  
because your  sect ion  of the Louisiana  Bat t leground pro-
gram was pa id direct ly to [Greenberg Traur ig]—so I took 
the whole th ing of [sic] the char t . I did leave it  on  the dis-
t r ibu t ion  char t  so you  can  see what  the ‘‘va lue’’ of your  
share to da te—approximately 5.4 mill. [sic] has gone to 
your  [sic] or  th ird par ty en t it ies a t  your  direct ion .48 

2. Abram off’s Misuse of CAF Funds in  2001 
Despite receiving $1,248,741 in  purpor ted cont r ibu t ions, CAF dis-

t r ibu ted very lit t le in  the form of gran ts to other  en t it ies in  2001— 
only $50,510.49 From the relevant  bank records, it  appears tha t  
Abramoff segrega ted most  of the Tr iba l money in to it s own account  
and reserved it  for  use in  the following year . From another  account , 
in to which  others such  as Foxcom Wireless had pa id, CAF made a  
number  of expenditures. 

The la rgest  ou t lay for  CAF in  2001 appears to be for  opera t ing 
and administ ra t ive expenses: 

• $102,510 for  ‘‘home school program which  combines academic 
and a th let ic programs for  the students.’’50 

• $50,510 for  log and web design  and newspaper  adver t ising for  
the benefit  of the Eshkol Academy.51 The Eshkol Academy was an  
a ll boys J ewish  or thodox prep school tha t  Abramoff founded in  
2001, bu t  closed in  2003.52 Abramoff’s rela t ionsh ip with  Eshkol was 
in t imate: he was the president  and h is wife was the vice president , 
secreta ry, and t reasurer .53 Media  repor t s a lso cla im tha t  some of 
Abramoff’s ch ildren  a t tended Eshkol. 
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Interact ive, LLC and Federa l Program Services, LLC. According to Tesler , Abramoff h ired Hook 
to serve as in ter im execut ive director  of Eshkol Academy in  November  2002. She sta ted tha t  
Hook was pa id $20,000 for  serving as the in ter im director , and the payments may have come 
from the Capita l Ath let ic Foundat ion . 

54 May & Barnhard document  product ion  (MB–002063–65) (December  31, 2001). 
55 Id . 
56 Capita l Ath let ic Foundat ion , 2001 Return  of Pr iva te Foundat ions 990PF; see also May & 

Barnhard document  product ion  (MB–002063–65) (December  31, 2001). 
57 S ee Email between  J ack Abramoff, Greenberg Traur ig, and Shmuel Ben  Zvi, Kollel Ohel 

Tieferet  (GTG–E000089141–44) (October  18–19, 2001). 
58 Email between  J ack Abramoff, Greenberg Traur ig, and Shmuel Ben  Zvi, Kollel Ohel 

Tieferet  (GTG–E000080536–37) (J u ly 15–16, 2003). 
59 S ee Email between  J ack Abramoff, Greenberg Traur ig, and Shmuel Ben  Zvi, Kollel Ohel 

Tieferet  (GTG–E000089141–44) (October  18–19, 2001). 
60 Id . 
61 Id . 

• $3,411.32 for  ‘‘Eshkol and Lexington  Group work.’’ CAF’s ledg-
er  iden t ifies the purpose of the payment  as brochures and business 
ca rds. The Lexington  Group was a  for -profit  ven ture tha t  Abramoff 
under took with  a  lobbyist  named Khaled Saffur i and has no appar -
en t  role in  CAF or  it s purpor ted char itable mission . 

• Almost  $99,000 on  consult ing fees, 54 which , on  in format ion  
and belief, rela ted to Abramoff’s effor t s to establish  Eshkol. 

• $26,060 for  a  school van . The records do not  indica te whether  
the van  was actua lly used for  persona l or  char itable purposes. 

• $10,000 payment  to Spor t s Suites as a  deposit .55 The Spor t s 
Suites was a  limited liability company tha t  Abramoff owned and 
opera ted and through which  he leased var ious club boxes a t  severa l 
spor t ing venues a round the region , including FedEx Field, MCI 
Center , and Camden Yards. Abramoff used the boxes extensively in  
h is lobbying pract ice. 

Cur iously, listed on  CAF’s 2001 tax form is an  $18,057 expendi-
ture for  a  thermal imager .56 CAF’s tax and account ing records do 
not  indica te what  possible rela t ion  a  thermal imager  would have to 
the char itable mission  of CAF, or  to whom it  was given . Abramoff’s 
emails, however , illumina te the purpose and beneficia ry of 
Abramoff’s la rgesse. 

For  two days in  2001, Abramoff exchanged emails with  a  person  
the Commit tee has determined is Shmuel Ben  Zvi.57 Ben Zvi and 
Abramoff were classmates a t  Bever ly Hills in  Ca liforn ia .58 Appar -
en t ly, Ben-Zvi la ter  moved to the Israeli West  Bank. The Com-
mit tee does not  know how Ben Zvi and Abramoff re-established 
t ies. 

Never theless, in  2001, Abramoff and Ben  Zvi t r ied to find a  
source for  a  thermal imager .59 Abramoff and Ben  Zvi apparen t ly 
in tended the thermal imager  for  paramilita ry applica t ion , because 
Ben  Zvi told Abramoff tha t  ‘‘[t ]he para t roop officer  in  charge of the 
a rea , tha t  you  see in  the photo with  me tha t  I sen t  you  is very 
happy tha t  we’ll have the thermal imager .’’60 

Ben  Zvi added, ‘‘[I]f it  looks like it  will t ake a  long t ime to get  
the Russian  model, then  we can  actua lly use our  a rmy address to 
buy the U.S. made thermal imager  and have a  colonel or  h igher  
sign  for  it . ...’’61 

The next  day, t rying to find a  way to obta in  the imager , Ben  Zvi 
suggested tha t  he could fax a  let ter  ‘‘sta t ing tha t  I am purchasing 
th is equipment  for  the IDF [Israeli Defense Force], and a t  the same 
t ime get  a  signed let ter  from the commander  of Para t roop bragade 
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62 Id . 
63 Capita l Ath let ic Foundat ion , 2002 Return  of Pr iva te Foundat ions, Form 990PF. 
64 Id . 
65 Id . 
66 May & Barnhard document  product ion  (MB–002063–65) (December  31, 2001); May & 

Barnhard document  product ion  (MB–001940–41) (J anuary-December  2002). 
67 Email between  J ack Abramoff, Greenberg Traur ig, and Ralph  Reed, Century St ra tegies 

(GTG–E000019854) (May 15, 2002). 
68 Id . 
69 Email from J ack Abramoff, Greenberg Traur ig, to Tony Rudy, Greenberg Traur ig (GTG– 

E000026455) (J une 6, 2002). 

[sic]. ...’’62 Although CAF’s tax return  indica tes tha t  Abramoff ap-
paren t ly purchased the thermal imager , the Commit tee has no fur -
ther  deta ils about  the t ransact ion . 

E. IN 2002, ABRAMOFF AND SCANLON SCAM OTHER TRIBES INTO 
PAYING INTO CAF 

In  2002, repor ted cont r ibu t ions to CAF climbed to $2,569,934. 
CAF listed a  number  of substan t ia l cont r ibu tors for  tha t  year : 

• Saginaw Chippewa Indian  Tr ibe—$25,000 
• Alabama-Cousha t ta  Enter ta inment  Center—$50,000 
• Nat iona l Center  for  Public Policy Research—$450,000 
• J ack Abramoff—$991,749 
• Mississippi Band of Choctaw Indians–$1,000,000 63 

The Commit tee finds tha t  most  of those a lleged cont r ibu t ions— 
even  those not  in  the name of an  Indian  Tr ibe—are the fru it s of 
Abramoff and Scanlon’s ‘‘gimme five’’ scheme. 
1. Abram off Deceives the S aginaw Chippewa Indian  T ribe In to Par-

tially Funding a Golfing T rip to S cotland—J une T hrough N o-
vem ber 2002 

In  2002, CAF cla imed $234,319 in  expenses for  t ravel, con-
ferences, and meet ings on  it s t ax return .64 Yet , according to tha t  
same tax filing, Abramoff and h is wife, the on ly two co-managing 
members, devoted ‘‘min imal’’ t ime each  week to their  posit ions.65 
CAF’s tax, account ing, and bank records, suggest  tha t  $166,634.26 
of tha t  $234,319 were cost s incur red for  a  golfing t r ip to Scot land.66 

On or  about  May 15, 2002, Abramoff and h is old fr iend and busi-
ness associa te Ra lph  Reed began  planning the t r ip. In  an  email en-
t it led ‘‘Scot land,’’ Abramoff wrote to Reed: 

The package on  the ground is $4K per  person . tha t  [sic] 
covers rooms, t ee t imes and ground t ranspor ta t ion . One 
idea  is tha t  we could use one of my founda t ions for  the 
t r ip—Capita l Ath let ic Foundat ion—and get  and make con-
t r ibu t ions so th is is easier .67 

Reed replied, ‘‘OK but  we need to discuss. It  is an  elect ion  
year .’’68 

Soon thereafter , Abramoff began  seeking financing for  the golfing 
t r ip. Abramoff asked h is colleague Tony Rudy, Congressman 
DeLay’s former  deputy ch ief of sta ff, ‘‘Hi Tony. Did you  get  the 
message from the guys tha t  Tom wants us to ra ise some bucks 
from Capita l Ath let ic Foundat ion? I have six clien ts in  for  $25K. 
I recommend we h it  everyone who cares about  Tom’s request s.’’69 
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70 Id . 
71 Email from Tony Rudy, Greenberg Traur ig, to J ack Abramoff, Greenberg Traur ig (GTG– 

E000026450) (J une 7, 2002). 
72 Email between  J ack Abramoff, Greenberg Traur ig, and Tony Rudy, Greenberg Traur ig 

(GTG–E000076673) (J une 17, 2002). 
73 Id . 
74 S ee Email between  Todd Boulanger , Greenberg Traur ig, and Tony Rudy, Greenberg Traur ig 

(GTG–E000254778–79) (J une 20, 2002). 
75 Id . 
76 Id . 
77 Id . 
78 Id . 
79 Id . 
80 Id . 
81 Id . 
82 Email from J ack Abramoff, Greenberg Traur ig, to Chr istopher  Pet ras, Saginaw Chippewa 

Tr ibe of Michigan  (GTG–E000026791) (September  30, 2002); Email from J ack Abramoff, Green-
berg Traur ig, to Chr istopher  Pet ras, Saginaw Chippewa Tr ibe of Michigan  (GTG–E000057439) 
(August  12, 2002). 

83 Email from J ack Abramoff, Greenberg Traur ig, to Chr istopher  Pet ras, Saginaw Chippewa 
Tr ibe of Michigan  (GTG–E000026653) (J u ly 31, 2002). 

Abramoff then  asked Rudy to ‘‘email [Chr istopher ] Pet ras on  the 
Sag ch ip request  (it ’ll look bet ter  coming from you  as a  former  
DeLay COS). We’z gonna  make a  bundle here.’’70 

Rudy subsequent ly requested Pet ras’ email address.71 
La ter  tha t  month , Abramoff aga in  asked Rudy, ‘‘P lease h it  them 

both  [Stoli and Sag Chip] to get  checks for  the Capita l Ath let ic 
Foundat ion  asap. we [sic] need to get  th is cash  in  hand. I am push-
ing Tigua  and Choctaw. We are st ill shor t  of fu ll cost  coverage 
(which  is a round $115K).’’72 

Rudy responded, ‘‘P lease give me [the] address.’’73 
Abramoff and Rudy soon  began  seeking money for  the Scot land 

golfing t r ip in  earnest .74 In  an  email en t it led ‘‘Capitol Ath let ic 
Foundat ion ,’’ Rudy asked Todd Boulanger , another  Abramoff asso-
cia te and the manager  of the Saginaw Chippewa Indian  Tr ibe 
(‘‘Saginaw Chippewa’’) lobbying account  a t  Greenberg Traur ig, 
‘‘Can  you  ask [C]hr is [Pet ras] whether  they can  make a  cont r ibu-
t ion . We asked for  25k.’’75 

Apparen t ly unfamilia r  with  CAF, Boulanger  inquired: ‘‘What  is 
th is? I can  put  th is on  your  Cousha t ta  request  list  tha t  I’m put t ing 
together  dur ing the J u ly 4th  recess ... or  I can  split  it  up 1⁄2 to 
Cousha t ta  and 1⁄2 to Choctaw so it  doesn’t  dilu te your  other  re-
quest s. Sag may kick in  ... 25K is steep for  them. I bet  they’d do 
$5k, however . We’ll get  it .’’76 

Rudy crypt ica lly responded, ‘‘J ack wants th is.’’77 
Boulanger  inquired fur ther , ‘‘What  is it ? I’ve never  heard of it .’’78 
Rudy was aga in  vague: ‘‘It  is someth ing our  fr iends a re ra ising 

money for .’’79 
Boulanger  fina lly desisted: ‘‘I’m sensing shadiness. I’ll stop ask-

ing.’’80 
Rudy confirmed Boulanger ’s suspicions, ‘‘Your  senses a re good. If 

you  have to say Leadersh ip is asking, please do. I a lready have.’’81 
Soon thereafter , Abramoff began  hounding the Tr ibe for  the pay-

ment .82 Examples include the following: 
• On J u ly 31, 2002, Abramoff reminded Pet ras ‘‘about  get -

t ing the Capita l Ath let ic Foundat ion  to me asap per  the delay 
request .’’83 
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84 Email from J ack Abramoff, Greenberg Traur ig, to Chr istopher  Pet ras, Saginaw Chippewa 
Tr ibe of Michigan  (GTG–E000057439) (August  12, 2002). 

85 Email from J ack Abramoff, Greenberg Traur ig, to Chr istopher  Pet ras, Saginaw Chippewa 
Tr ibe of Michigan  (GTG–E000026714) (August  23, 2002). 

86 Email from J ack Abramoff, Greenberg Traur ig, to Chr istopher  Pet ras, Saginaw Chippewa 
Tr ibe of Michigan  (GTG–E000026766) (September  4, 2002). 

87 Email from J ack Abramoff, Greenberg Traur ig, to Chr istopher  Pet ras, Saginaw Chippewa 
Tr ibe of Michigan  (GTG–E000026784) (September  12, 2002). 

88 Email from J ack Abramoff, Greenberg Traur ig, to Chr istopher  Pet ras, Saginaw Chippewa 
Tr ibe of Michigan  (GTG–E000026805) (September  18, 2002). 

89 Email from J ack Abramoff, Greenberg Traur ig, to Chr istopher  Pet ras, Saginaw Chippewa 
Tr ibe of Michigan  (GTG–E000026791) (September  30, 2002). 

90 Saginaw Chippewa Indian  Tr ibe of Michigan  document  product ion  (no Bates number) (en t i-
t led ‘‘Minutes of the Tr iba l Council Specia l Session’’) (August  22, 2002). 

91 Capita l Ath let ic Foundat ion  document  product ion  (SEN–CAF 000681) (November  13, 2002). 
92 Email between  Chr istopher  Pet ras, Saginaw Chippewa Tr ibe of Michigan , to J ack Abramoff, 

Greenberg Traur ig; Holly Bowers, Greenberg Traur ig; and J ennifer  Boice, Greenberg Traur ig 
(GTG–E000027002) (November  14, 2002). 

93 Capita l Ath let ic Foundat ion  document  product ion  (SEN–CAF 000681) (November  13, 2002). 
94 Email between  J ack Abramoff, Greenberg Traur ig, and Maury Litwack, Greenberg Traur ig 

(GTG–E000001280–81) (November  19–20, 2002). 

• On August  12, 2002 he asked Pet ras to ‘‘get  me tha t  $25K 
to Capita l Ath let ic Foundat ion  for  the DeLay th ing.’’84 

• On August  23, 2002, Abramoff asked Pet ras ‘‘any progress 
on  the Capita l Ath let ic Foundat ion?’’85 

• On September  4, 2002, Abramoff asked Pet ras: ‘‘any 
progress.’’86 

• On September  12, 2002, Abramoff asked Pet ras about  
CAF, ‘‘P lease keep me informed on  th is one.’’87 

Throughout  the process, Abramoff cont inued misrepresen t ing 
CAF as an  independent  en t ity. In  a  September  18, 2002 email en t i-
t led ‘‘where a re we on  the Capita l Ath let ic Foundat ion ,’’ Abramoff 
advised Pet ras, ‘‘I saw the CAF guys th is morning and we a re get -
t ing in to a  bit  of an  embarrassing situa t ion .’’88 Again , on  Sep-
tember  30, 2002, Abramoff told Pet ras tha t  ‘‘I am get t ing ser ious 
pressure on  the Capita l Ath let ic Foundat ion . P lease let  me know 
if th is is going to happen , and if not , I need to t ry and find a  re-
placement . I am rea lly ou t  of t ime on  th is and am get t ing ca lled 
da ily.’’89 

In  procur ing the money from the Tr ibe, Abramoff apparen t ly 
misrepresen ted the na ture of CAF and how it  would use the funds. 
According to in terna l Saginaw Chippewa documents, Abramoff rep-
resen ted tha t  CAF ‘‘crea tes programs tha t  t each  leadersh ip skills 
to disadvantaged youth  in  the DC area  in  an  effor t  to keep them 
off the st reet s and enhance their  educa t iona l oppor tun it ies.’’90 

F ina lly, on  November  13, 2002, the Saginaw Chippewa wrote a  
check to CAF in  the amount  of $25,000.91 On November  14, 2002, 
Abramoff received the Saginaw Chippewa check for  CAF.92 
Abramoff had the check deposited on  November  18, 2002.93 
Abramoff apparen t ly concea led from the Saginaw Chippewa tha t  
CAF was h is persona l char ity. After  the Saginaw Chippewa do-
na ted $25,000 to CAF, Abramoff inst ructed Maury Litwack, a  legis-
la t ive assistan t  a t  Greenberg Traur ig, to dra ft  a  thank you  let ter  
to the Tr ibe, and to sign  it  as the Program Director .94 The Com-
mit tee has not  been  able to ver ify whether  the let ter  was actua lly 
sen t  and received. 

Abramoff used the $25,000 from the Saginaw Chippewa and an-
other  $50,000 from the Alabama Cousha t ta , to par t ia lly finance a  
widely publicized golfing t r ip to Scot land. Regarding these dona-
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95 Plea  Agreement , Factua l Basis for  the P lea , a t  para . 7, U.S . v. J ack  A. Abram off (Dist . D.C., 
J anuary 3, 2006) (CR–06–001). 

96 P lea  Agreement , Factua l Basis for  the P lea , a t  para . 17, U.S . v. T ony C. R udy (Dist . D.C., 
March  31, 2006) (CR–06–082) 

97 Id . 
98 Capita l Ath let ic Foundat ion , 2002 Form 990PF. 
99 May & Barnhard document  product ion  (MB–001948) (December  31, 2002). 
100 Email from J ack Abramoff, Greenberg Traur ig, to Laura  Lippy, Greenberg Traur ig, and 

Rodney Lane Greenberg Traur ig (GTG–E000114360) (December  27, 2001). 
101 Email from Gail Halpern , May & Barnhard, to J ack Abramoff, Greenberg Traur ig (GTG– 

E000010719) (J anuary 3, 2002). 

t ions, both  Abramoff and Rudy pled gu ilty to defrauding the Sagi-
naw Chippewa. According to Abramoff’s plea  agreement : 

From J une 2002 to November  2002, Abramoff and a  
former  lobbying colleague, who was a lso a  former  congres-
siona l sta ffer  (‘‘Sta ffer  A’’) successfu lly solicited the Michi-
gan  Tr ibe for  a  $25,000 payment  to CAF. Instead of using 
the funds for  CAF, Abramoff used th is money for  h is per -
sona l and professiona l benefit  to par t ia lly pay for  a  golfing 
t r ip to Scot land for  h imself, public officia ls, members of h is 
sta ff, and others.95 

Rudy pled simila r ly: 
In  J une 2002, Rudy, a t  Abramoff’s direct ion , solicited one 
of F irm B’s clien ts, a  Nat ive Amer ican  Tr ibe in  Michigan , 
for  a  $25,000 cont r ibu t ion  to CAF made by check ... by 
fa lsely cla iming tha t  a  public officia l requested them to so-
licit  funds for  the char ity from their  clien ts. Abramoff and 
Rudy in tended to use th is money for  their  persona l and 
professiona l benefit  to par t ia lly pay for  a  golfing t r ip to 
Scot land for  Abramoff, Rudy, Representa t ive #1, members 
of h is sta ff and others, which  Rudy u lt imately did not  a t -
tend.96 

Notably, Rudy admit ted in  h is plea  agreement  tha t  he solicited 
money from the Saginaw Chippewa ‘‘by fa lsely cla iming tha t  a  pub-
lic officia l [DeLay] requested them to solicit  funds for  the char ity 
from their  clien ts.’’97 
2. Abram off and  S canlon  Deceive the Mississippi Band of Choctaw 

Indians In to S ending $1,000,000 to CAF—J anuary and  August 
2002 

CAF’s 2002 Form 990PF listed the Mississippi Band of Choctaw 
Indians (‘‘Choctaw’’) as it s biggest  cont r ibu tor—at  $1,000,000.98 Ac-
cording to CAF’s account ing ledger , the Tr ibe made two payments: 
(1) $500,000 on  J anuary 3, 2002; and, (2) $500,000 on  August  6, 
2002.99 The Commit tee finds, however , tha t  Abramoff and Scanlon  
deceived the Tr ibe in to paying tha t  $1,000,000 in to CAF for  uses 
the Tr ibe never  in tended. 

On December  19, 2001, Scanlon  sen t  the Choctaw an  invoice pur -
por tedly from CAF for  $500,000 for  ‘‘Professiona l Services Ren-
dered.’’ Barely one week la ter , Abramoff was looking for  the money. 
He asked Laura  Lippy and Rodney Lane, two of h is associa tes, 
‘‘[d]id we ever  get  the [sic] $500K for  Cap Ath let ic from Choctaw 
per  Scanlon?’’100 The payment  actua lly a r r ived a  few days a fter  the 
New Year .101 
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102 Email from J ack Abramoff, Greenberg Traur ig, to Michael Scanlon , Capitol Campaign  
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103 Email between  J ack Abramoff, Greenberg Traur ig, and Michael Scanlon , Capitol Campaign  
St ra tegies (GTG–E000110065) (March  13, 2002). 
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St ra tegies (GTG–E00010056) (March  30, 2002). 
108 Email from Michael Scanlon , Capitol Campaign  St ra tegies, to J ack Abramoff, Greenberg 

Traur ig (GTG–E000110088) (Apr il 1, 2002). 
109 Email from J ack Abramoff, Greenberg Traur ig, to Michael Scanlon , Capitol Campaign  

St ra tegies (GTG–E000110224) (May 23, 2002). 
110 Email from J ack Abramoff, Greenberg Traur ig, to Michael Scanlon , Capitol Campaign  

St ra tegies (GTG–E000110212) (May 29–30, 2002). 
111 Id . 
112 Email from J ack Abramoff, Greenberg Traur ig, to Michael Scanlon , Capitol Campaign  

St ra tegies (Bates number  1735978) (J une 12, 2002). 

With in  two months, Abramoff and Scanlon  began  chasing the 
Choctaw for  their  next  score for  CAF. On March  3, 2002, Abramoff 
inst ructed Scanlon: ‘‘See if you  can  get  [Nell Rogers] to send my 
share to Capita l Ath let ic Foundat ion . She liked using tha t  en t ity 
anyway. This is for  the next  payment , not  the last  one.’’102 

Scanlon  cont inued to be the pr ime actor , while Abramoff skulked 
in  the shadows. Abramoff asked Scanlon , ‘‘Can  you  have one of the 
upcoming payments from Choctaw (or  one of the others) made to 
‘‘Capita l Ath let ic Foundat ion’’ up to $500K? I need to get  more 
money in  there.’’103 

Scanlon  agreed, ‘‘I will do it .’’104 And, he offered to go even  fur -
ther , ‘‘there is another  payment  coming due—I can  get  1 mil in  
there in  about  two weeks—IS [sic] tha t  ok?’’105 

Abramoff, however , replied tha t  ‘‘$500k is enough’’ for  CAF.106 
As t ime passed, and the Choctaw’s money did not  a r r ive, 

Abramoff aga in  asked Scanlon  to get  it  done, and th is t ime for  
more money. In  an  email en t it led ‘‘Capita l Ath let ic Foundat ion’’, 
Abramoff reminded Scanlon  ‘‘P lease don’t  forget  th is one. $1M in  
there would be good if tha t ’s the amount  you  can  get  Nell [Rogers] 
to send.’’107 

Scanlon  assured Abramoff, ‘‘I’ll approach  her  on  th is today.’’108 
Near ly two months la ter , the money had st ill not  a r r ived. Con-

sequent ly, over  the next  few weeks, Abramoff badgered Scanlon  to 
have the Tr ibe make the payment : 

• On May 23, Abramoff asked Scanlon  to ‘‘find out  what ’s up 
with  the Choctaw’s payment  to CAF’’.109 

• On May 29, Abramoff asked Scanlon , ‘‘Where a re we on  
th is? I did not  get  the CAF check.’’110 

• On May 30, Abramoff aga in  asked, ‘‘Anyth ing happen  with  
th is yet?’’111 

Abramoff became despera te, suggest ing to Scanlon  tha t  he ‘‘ca ll 
Nell [Rogers] today and push  her  on  the $500K for  CAF’’ and in-
st ruct ing Scanlon  ‘‘to tell her  tha t  they [CAF] spent  the money a l-
ready with  the t rust  tha t  they’d get  it , and tha t  they a re a ll over  
you  now.’’112 

Abramoff apparen t ly grew increasingly frust ra ted by Scanlon’s 
fa ilu re to secure the money for  h im. In  an  email en t it led ‘‘Choctaw 
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CAF!’’, Abramoff implored Scanlon , ‘‘Mike, what  do we have to do 
to get  th is money in?’’113 

When the money had st ill not  a r r ived, Abramoff suggested to 
Scanlon  tha t  he tell Nell Rogers a t  Choctaw tha t  they were ‘‘going 
to lose the ability to use th is group [CAF] as a  fron t  if we don’t  
get  th is cur ren t .’’114 Scanlon  agreed to do so.115 Abramoff followed 
up a  few days la ter , asking Scanlon  ‘‘Can  you  ca ll her  aga in  
today?’’116 Fina lly, on  August  6, 2002, a  $500,000 check for  CAF 
ar r ived from the Choctaw.117 

Despite being listed as CAF’s la rgest  donor , the Choctaw never  
in tended to make a  char itable cont r ibu t ion  to CAF. Dur ing the 
J une 2005 hear ing before the Commit tee, Rogers, who dea lt  with  
Abramoff and Scanlon , t est ified: 

THE CHAIRMAN: Ms. Rogers, in  2002 the Capita l Ath let ic 
Foundat ion , Mr . Abramoff’s pr iva te char itable founda t ion , 
repor ted on  it s t ax forms tha t  the Mississippi Band of 
Choctaw Indians was fa r  and away the single biggest  con-
t r ibu tor  ... Michael Scanlon  and J ack Abramoff directed 
the t r ibe to make these cont r ibu t ions? 
MS. ROGERS: These were not  in tended as cont r ibu t ions, 
Sena tor . They were in tended to be pass-throughs to other  
groups doing grassroots public advocacy work for  the t r ibe. 
THE CHAIRMAN: In  other  words, the t r ibe did not  know 
tha t  70 percent  of these moneys were going to—— 
MS. ROGERS: Not  a t  a ll. They were never  in tended to be 
cont r ibu t ions. 
THE CHAIRMAN: J ack Abramoff and Michael Scanlon  never  
told you  tha t  the Capita l Ath let ic Foundat ion  was Mr . 
Abramoff’s pr iva te char ity? 
MS. ROGERS: No.118 

At  a ll relevant  t imes, the Tr ibe in tended tha t  the payments to 
CAF would pass th rough to grassroots organiza t ions working to op-
pose the expansion  of gaming in  the Choctaw casino’s customer  
market .119 At  no t ime did Abramoff or  Scanlon  advise the Choctaw 
tha t  CAF would keep any par t  of the money, as a  char itable con-
t r ibu t ion  or  otherwise.120 Rogers was disgusted tha t  Abramoff 
would not  on ly abuse the Tr ibe’s t rust , bu t  a lso use a  char ity to do 
it .121 

Neither  Abramoff nor  Scanlon  ever  told the Tr ibe tha t  CAF was 
a  char itable organiza t ion .122 The Tr ibe was led to believe tha t  CAF 
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‘‘was another  one of Mike’s en t it ies tha t  was a  vehicle to be used 
as a  pass-through to grassroots groups.’’123 Rogers understood tha t  
CAF was ‘‘someth ing convenien t ly set  up to use for  pass-through 
act ivit ies.’’124 Before the Commit tee’s invest iga t ion , the Tr ibe had 
no idea  tha t  Abramoff was using CAF to finance the Eshkol Acad-
emy.125 Based on  it s review of CAF’s Form 990PFs, account ing 
ledger , profit  and loss sta tements, and other  account ing records, 
the Commit tee finds tha t  CAF pa id none of the Choctaw’s funds to 
grassroots organiza t ions and vendors as the Tr ibe had in tended. 
3. Abram off and  S canlon  Misappropriate Another $1,000,000 From  

the Choctaw—October 2002 
Abramoff and Scanlon’s diversion  of Choctaw funds, in tended by 

the Tr ibe for  polit ica l purposes, did not  end there. In  October  2002, 
Abramoff and Scanlon  successfu lly deceived the Tr ibe in to paying 
another  $1,000,000, near ly ha lf of which  went  to CAF. To accom-
plish  th is, Abramoff bet rayed not  just  the Tr ibe, bu t  a lso two long- 
t ime fr iends, and viola ted h is fiducia ry du ty to a  non-profit  organi-
za t ion  on  whose board he sa t . 

According to it s president , Amy Ridenour , the Nat iona l Center  
for  Public Policy Research  (‘‘NCPPR’’) is ‘‘a  23-year -old conserva t ive 
free market  non-profit  inst itu t ion .’’126 Abramoff joined the 
NCPPR’s board in  1997.127 Ridenour  told the Commit tee tha t  ‘‘[a ]t  
tha t  t ime, I had known J ack for  near ly 17 years. He was a  dedi-
ca ted conserva t ive, a  successfu l lobbyist  and businessman, and h is 
manager ia l skills it  seemed to me a t  the t ime exceeded my 
own.’’128 Abramoff in t roduced Ridenour  and NCPPR to Chief Mar-
t in  and the Choctaw in  1997.129 

F ive years la ter , in  October  2002, Abramoff used h is posit ion  as 
an  NCPPR director  to fur ther  ca r ry ou t  h is and Scanlon’s ‘‘gimme 
five’’ scheme. Abramoff apparen t ly sowed the seeds months ear lier  
a t  lunch  with  Ridenour  and her  husband a t  Abramoff’s restauran t  
Signa tures.130 Ridenour  test ified before the Commit tee: 

J ack shared with  us deta ils of h is work doing what  he 
ca lled ‘‘a  new kind of lobbying.’’ He sa id he and h is col-
leagues working with  the Mississippi Choctaws had noted 
tha t  for -profit  non-Indian  gaming establishments were 
push ing to establish  themselves in  a reas of the Count ry 
not  noted for  their  admira t ion  of gaming. They believed 
tha t  a  public backlash  aga inst  gaming was brewing and 
tha t  before th ings came to a  head, perhaps 4 to 5 years 
down the road, they would educa te the public about  the 
Choctaw success story. 
I was very in terested in  what  I was hear ing. I noted tha t  
h is new kind of lobbying was not  lobbying a t  a ll, bu t  edu-
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The Commit tee observes tha t  th is invoice is simila r  in  form and conten t  to the invoices Scanlon  
sen t  on  h is companies’ beha lf, usua lly just  iden t ifying ‘‘Professiona l Services’ as the reason  for  
the payment  request . 

ca t iona l work and I expressed an  in terest  in  the Nat iona l 
Center  sponsor ing it . J ack seemed mildly agreeable, bu t  
noncommit ta l. I did not  press the mat ter , assuming the 
Choctaws were financing the project  and would have to ap-
prove our  involvement .131 

Noth ing happened for  four  months.132 Then , on  October  1, 
Abramoff told Scanlon , ‘‘Amy Ridenour  has asked if we can  run  any 
funds th rough them to pump up their  non  email dona t ions (they 
will give us back 100%). Let ’s run  some of the non-caf Choctaw 
money through them to the camans [sic].’’133 

To induce the Tr ibe in to making the payment , Abramoff told 
them tha t  the money would be used for  their  grassroots act ivit ies. 
In  her  in terview with  Commit tee sta ff, Rogers sa id tha t  the Tr ibe 
pa id $1,000,000 to the NCPPR a t  Abramoff’s direct ion .134 The 
Tr ibe in tended and understood tha t  the money would pass-through 
the NCPPR to grassroots organiza t ions and vendors t rying to de-
fea t  the expansion  of gaming in to the Choctaw casino’s customer  
market .135 Ralph  Reed’s firm Century St ra tegies was among the 
firms tha t , Abramoff assured Rogers, would u lt imately receive par t  
of the $ 1,000,000.136 The Tr ibe never  in tended any par t  of tha t  
$1,000,000 to go to CAF, Abramoff, Scanlon , or  any other  en t ity 
owned or  cont rolled by Abramoff or  Scanlon .137 Unt il the Commit -
tee’s invest iga t ion , the Tr ibe did not  know tha t  Abramoff and Scan-
lon  had diver ted the $1,000,000 for  their  own persona l use and 
benefit .138 

Thus, on  October  10, 2002, a t  Abramoff’s direct ion , NCPPR drew 
up a  $1,000,000 invoice.139 The invoice Ridenour  prepared listed as 
it s purpose ‘‘cont r ibu t ion  to the Nat iona l Center  for  educa t iona l 
and research  programs and act ivit ies.’’140 Ridenour  sen t  the in -
voice to Abramoff by email.141 That  was not  the invoice tha t  the 
Choctaw received, however . 

Abramoff forwarded NCPPR’s or igina l invoice to Scanlon .142 
Someone a t  Scanlon’s companies apparen t ly fabr ica ted another  in -
voice purpor tedly from the ‘‘Nat iona l Center  for  Public Policy Re-
search’’ for  ‘‘Professiona l Services.’’143 That  was the invoice the 
Tr ibe u lt imately saw and pa id. 

To NCPPR’s Ridenour , Abramoff expla ined tha t  par t  of the 
money was a  dona t ion  u lt imately dest ined for  CAF, and the rest  
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was in tended for  a  huge educa t iona l effor t  the Tr ibe was under -
taking to educa te the public on  the benefit s of Indian  gaming, and 
the dist inct ion  between  Indian  and non-Indian  gaming. According 
to Ridenour’s test imony before the Commit tee: 

When the funds a r r ived, he [Abramoff] told me how they 
should be disbursed: $450,000 to the Capita l Ath let ic 
Foundat ion  as a  gran t ; $500,000 to Capitol Campaign  
St ra tegies; and; and $50,000 to a  company ca lled 
Nurnberger  and Associa tes. 
I believe Capitol Campaign  St ra tegies was to be pa id for  
educa t iona l program services, while Ra lph  Nurnberger  was 
going to help coordina te the project . J ack refer red to h is 
receiving ‘‘inst ruct ions’’ for  the disbursements, which  I 
took to mean  recommendat ions from the donor , which  was 
consisten t  with  my belief tha t  the Mississippi Choctaws 
were act ively involved.144 

Abramoff repea tedly assured Ridenour  tha t  in fluencing legisla -
t ion  was not  par t  of the effor t .145 Abramoff expla ined tha t  the pay-
ment  to CCS ‘‘was to be used for  educa t iona l program services, par -
t icu la r ly polling and telephone banks, bu t  not  necessar ily exclu-
sively; research , poten t ia lly pa id adver t ising; I was told la ter  pet i-
t ion  dr ives, tha t  sor t  of th ing, bu t  100 percent  educa t iona l program 
services.’’146 Abramoff told Ridenour  tha t  Nurnberger  & Associa tes 
would coordina te the effor t .147 

On October  17, 2002, Ridenour  confirmed for  Abramoff NCPPR’s 
receipt  of the $1,000,000 dolla r  wire t ransfer  from the Choctaw.148 
Two days la ter , Abramoff inst ructed Ridenour  to send $450,000 to 
CAF and $50,000 to Nurnberger  & Associa tes.149 

In  dividing their  ‘‘gimme five’’ spoils, Scanlon  reminded Abramoff 
to have NCPPR send Abramoff’s share direct ly to CAF to avoid a  
taxable event .150 When Ridenour  requested invoices from CAF and 
Nurnberger , Abramoff directed h is assistan t  to ‘‘make up two in-
voices.’’151 Abramoff fur ther  inst ructed tha t  the ‘‘invoices should be 
gener ic as follows: 1. From Capita l Ath let ic Foundat ion  for  ‘Spor t s 
and Polit ics’ project  for  $450K 2. Nurnberger  and Associa tes (use 
Ralph  Nurnberger ’s home address) for  ‘research  gran t ’ for  
$50K.’’152 Abramoff simila r ly inst ructed Chr istopher  Cathcar t , 
Scanlon’s r igh t -hand man a t  CCS, to prepare an  invoice from CCS 
‘‘for  polling services or  someth ing like tha t .’’153 When Cathcar t  for -
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warded the invoice to h im, Abramoff asked h im to ‘‘change th is to 
$500K and find out  from Amy is [sic] th is suffices.’’154 

NCPPR pa id according to the invoices submit ted by Abramoff 
and Scanlon . From a  review of CAF’s in terna l business and finan-
cia l records, the Commit tee finds tha t  CAF per formed no services 
benefit t ing the Choctaw. Simila r ly, from a  review of CCS’s records, 
the Commit tee finds it  per formed no services for  the $500,000 it  re-
ceived through NCPPR. Cathcar t  told the Commit tee tha t , cont ra ry 
to the invoice he prepared, CCS did not  provide polling or  any 
other  services to NCPPR.155 

The Commit tee finds tha t  Abramoff fabr ica ted the invoice from 
Nurnberger  & Associa tes. Dur ing h is in terview with  Commit tee 
sta ff, Nurnberger  reviewed the invoice purpor tedly sen t  by h is 
firm, Nurnberger  & Associa tes, da ted October  2002, for  a  ‘‘Research  
Grant .’’ Nurnberger  sa id tha t  he had never  seen  the invoice, and 
was cer ta in  tha t  neither  he nor  h is firm had ever  invoiced the 
NCPPR for  th is $50,000 payment .156 

Nurnberger  a lso told the Commit tee tha t  a t  no t ime did he or  h is 
firm provide any service to the NCPPR requir ing remunera t ion .157 
The payment , according to Nurnberger , was in  fact  repayment  of 
a  $50,000 loan  tha t  Nurnberger  had made to Abramoff many years 
ea r lier  for  the product ion  of the movie ‘‘Red Scorpion .’’158 After  
reading a r t icles lauding Abramoff and h is success in  2002, 
Nurnberger  approached Abramoff about  repayment .159 Abramoff 
cla imed he was not  liqu id; however , Abramoff expla ined tha t  the 
NCPPR, of which  Abramoff admit ted he was a  director , owed h im 
money, and he would a r range for  payment  to go instead direct ly to 
Nurnberger .160 

In  fact , the Tr ibe never  in tended to dona te any of tha t  money to 
Abramoff’s persona l char ity, to Nurnberger , or  to CCS. Donald Kil-
gore, the At torney Genera l for  the Choctaw, test ified before the 
Commit tee tha t  Abramoff told the Tr ibe tha t  the en t ire $1,000,000 
would be passed through to grassroots organiza t ions working on  
issues impor tan t  to the Tr ibe.161 
4. Abram off’s Misuse of CAF Funds in  2002 

Based on  it s review of the records, the Commit tee finds tha t  
Abramoff never  passed the Choctaw’s money through CAF to grass-
roots groups or  vendors working for  the Tr ibe’s benefit  as the Choc-
taw had in tended. Nor  did CAF per form the work it self. Abramoff 
instead diver ted the funds to h is own persona l causes and con-
cerns. 
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In  2002, CAF doled out  $2,331,656 to var ious organiza t ions. Be-
fore Abramoff shut  it  down, CAF’s website iden t ified the following 
organiza t ions as represen ta t ive gran t  recipien ts: 

• The Alexandr ia  Police Youth  Camp Foundat ion  
• American  Youth  Soccer  Organiza t ion  
• Bethesda  Chevy Chase Baseba ll 
• Belize Youth  Soccer  
• Boy Scouts of Amer ica  
• Columbia  Heights Youth  Club 
• Gir l Scout  Council of the Nat ion’s Capita l 
• Howard County Youth  Program 
• J CC of Grea ter  Washington  
• J oy of Spor t s Foundat ion  
• Metropolitan  Police Boys and Gir ls Club 
• Washington  DC Scores 
• Washington  Tennis Educa t ion  Foundat ion  
• YMCA of Met ropolitan  Washington 162 

Despite millions of dolla rs in  ‘‘gran ts’’ tha t  year , these organiza-
t ions received a  mere $500 each . Cumula t ively, the organiza t ions 
received $7,000, which  is on ly 0.3% of the purpor ted gran ts made 
tha t  year  by CAF. 

Individua ls and organiza t ions Abramoff did not  tou t  publicly 
were, in  fact , the major  beneficia r ies of Abramoff’s share of the 
‘‘gimme five’’ scheme. According to CAF’s 2002 Form 990PF, the 
ten  top recipien ts were: 

• Eshkol Academy—$1,857,704 
• P’tach—$300,000 
• Kollel Ohel Tiferet—$97,000 
• Chabad Lubavitch—$20,000 
• GIFT School—$14,500 
• Toward Tradit ion—$10,000 
• The Waldor f School of At lan ta—$6,000 
• J ewish  Federa t ion  of Grea ter  Washington—$5,000 
• Washington  Redskins Leadersh ip Council—$4,000 
• The Voice Behind—$2,500 163 

Despite receiving $2,254,704—near ly a ll of the $2,331,656 tha t  
Abramoff had CAF dole ou t  in  ‘‘gran ts’’ in  2002—neither  Eshkol 
Academy, P’tach , nor  Kollel Ohel Tiferet  were listed among the re-
cen t  recipien ts iden t ified on  CAF’s website. In  fact , of the top ten  
recipien ts of CAF funds, on ly the Waldor f School and the Voice Be-
h ind were listed.164 Simila r ly, in  promot iona l lit era ture dist r ibu ted 
to the public for  ‘‘The Spy Game,’’ an  event  scheduled a t  the Spy 
Museum for  March  26, 2003 but  which  apparen t ly did not  occur , 
the Eshkol Academy, Kollel Ohel Tiferet , and P’tach  a re conspicu-
ously absent  from the list  of recent  gran t  recipien ts.165 

Many of the top ten  recipien ts of CAF la rgesse in  2002 had close 
t ies to Abramoff: 
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• The single la rgest  beneficia ry of money was the Eshkol 
Academy, the middle school and h igh  school for  Or thodox J ews 
founded in  2001 by Abramoff. He and h is wife were the on ly 
members of the board of directors.166 The money a llegedly was 
used for  t eaching facilit ies, inst ructors, and an  ice r ink.167 In  
concea ling h is use of CAF to fund Eshkol, Abramoff told 
Greenberg Traur ig’s Bagget t  tha t  he was persona lly funding 
the Eshkol Academy.168 Abramoff’s school, Eshkol Academy, 
received near ly 80% of the funds Abramoff had CAF dist r ibu te 
as ‘‘gran ts.’’ 

• Toward Tradit ion  is ‘‘a  non-profit  (501.c.3), educa t iona l or -
ganiza t ion  working to advance our  na t ion  toward the t radi-
t iona l J udeo-Chr ist ian  va lues tha t  defined Amer ica’s crea t ion  
and became the bluepr in t  for  her  grea tness.’’169 Dur ing 2002, 
Abramoff sa t  on  the Board of Directors of Toward Tradit ion .170 
Toward Tradit ion  is headed by Rabbi Daniel Lapin , a  long- 
term Abramoff fr iend.171 

• Rabbi David Lapin  received $60,529 from CAF for  ‘‘con-
su lt ing’’ services.172 According to news repor t s, Rabbi David 
Lapin  is Daniel Lapin’s brother , and another  long-t ime 
Abramoff fr iend.173 

• The J ewish  Federa t ion  of Grea ter  Washington  descr ibes 
it self as ‘‘the voice of the J ewish  community in  and a round the 
na t ion’s capita l since 1925.’’174 The J ewish  Federa t ion  of 
Grea ter  Washington  is the ‘‘opera t ing agency’’ of the Torah  
School of Grea ter  Washington , which  is loca ted a t  12721 
Goodhill Road in  Silver  Spr ing, Maryland.175 Records filed 
with  the Maryland Secreta ry of Sta te show tha t  Abramoff was/ 
is the registered agent  for  the Torah  School of Grea ter  Wash-
ington .176 The Torah  School of Grea ter  Washington  is a  J ewish  
school for  kindergar ten  th rough sixth  grade.177 

• In  2004, the Voice Behind cla imed to be ‘‘a  fa ith -based, 
501c3 [sic] non-profit  crea t ive organiza t ion  dedica ted to cre-
a t ing, commission ing, and celebra t ing t ranscendent  works of 
a r t  and media .’’178 It s vision  was a  ‘‘crea t ive rena issance tha t  
illumines the good, the t rue, and the beaut ifu l th rough excel-
lence and a r t ist ry for  the glory of God, the service of neighbor , 
and the renewal of cu lture.’’179 According to a  press release, 
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Email from Allison  Bozniak, Greenberg Traur ig, to J ack Abramoff, Greenberg Traur ig, and Gail 
Halpern , May & Barnhard (GTG–E00008858) (September  19, 2002) (refer r ing to payments used 
for  jeep); Email from Gail Halpern , May & Barnhard, to J ack Abramoff, Greenberg Traur ig 
(GTG–E000011885) (November  5, 2002) (request ing Abramoff cu t  ‘‘Shmuel spy equipment  and 
h is month ly st ipend ($3560) ...’’); Email from J ack Abramoff, Greenberg Traur ig, to Gail 
Halpern , May & Barnhard (GTG–E000088619–21) (December  24, 2002) (‘‘I cannot  cu t  h im off 
from the st ipend and the jeep payment .’’). 

The Voice Behind, in  collabora t ion  with  Abramoff, the Capita l 
Ath let ic Foundat ion , and others hosted the premier  of ‘‘the 
Best  of the Damah Film Fest iva l: Spir itua l Exper iences in  
F ilm’’ in  Washington , D.C.180 The Commit tee has not  been  able 
to confirm whether  th is event  actua lly occur red. 

The second la rgest  recipien t , P’tach , is a  school in  Brooklyn , New 
York for  J ewish  ch ildren  with  lea rn ing disabilit ies.181 Among 
CAF’s dona t ions to P’tach  were $275,500 for  P’tach  to purchase a  
new facility for  it s GIFT High  School, Gutmann Inst itu te for  Child 
Development , and for  administ ra t ive offices, and $47,500 for  a  de-
posit  on  a  proposed campus in  Marr iot t sville, Maryland.182 

The th ird la rgest  recipien t , Kollel Ohel Tiferet , is a  purpor ted 
educa t iona l inst itu t ion  in  Israel; according to CAF’s 2002 990 Tax 
Return , the gran t  was supposedly used for  educa t ion , a th let ics, and 
secur ity. Based on  it s review of the documents, the Commit tee 
finds tha t  the Kollel Ohel Tiferet  was noth ing more than  an  en t ity 
established on  paper  to concea l the u lt imate recipien t  of CAF 
gran ts: Shmuel Ben  Zvi. 

As noted above, in  2001 CAF apparen t ly purchased a  thermal 
imager  for  one Shmuel Ben  Zvi for  paramilita ry use in  the Israeli 
West  Bank. In  2002, CAF sen t  money to Ben  Zvi in  Israel, simply 
list ing it  as a  t ransfer .183 Addit iona l en t r ies reflect  tha t  the pay-
ments were for  a  ‘‘new J eep.’’184 Gail Halpern , Abramoff’s t ax advi-
sor , labeled the purchases for  Ben  Zvi as ‘‘spy equipment .’’185 Ac-
cording to one former  Abramoff fr iend, Abramoff a llegedly procured 
‘‘r ifle scopes for  set t ler s’’ in  Israel.186 The Commit tee thus finds 
tha t  in  2002, Abramoff was making jeep payments for  Ben  Zvi and 
paying h im a  st ipend from CAF funds.187 

At  some poin t , Abramoff began  get t ing pressure to ‘‘clean  up’’ the 
books of CAF to conform, a t  least  on  paper , CAF’s expenditures 
with  some legit imate char itable purpose. When Abramoff proposed 
changing how the payments were made, Allison  Bozniak, one of 
Abramoff’s former  assistan ts a t  Greenberg Traur ig, repor ted to 
Abramoff: 

I spoke with  Shmuel [Ben  Zvi] and he is a  lit t le a fra id to 
begin  changing th ings with  the bank since they set  up the 
loan  for  the jeep based on  the 2K payments each  month  for  
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t he last  year . They regarded the 2k as a  sign  tha t  the 
t ransfers were stable and felt  tha t  these consisten t  pay-
ments, plus the let ter  from J ack made the loan  a  good 
r isk. 
He studies ha lf a  day a t  a  place ca lled ‘‘Kollel’’ bu t  he 
doesn’t  th ink tha t  they even  have a  bank account  as it  
rea lly doesn’t  pay it ’s [sic] members. He a lso has no way 
to set  th is up with  a  Yeshiva  a t  the moment .188 

Bozniak proposed a  solu t ion , ‘‘He did suggest  tha t  he could wr ite 
some kind of let ter  with  h is Sniper  Workshop Logo and let ter  head. 
It  is an  ‘educa t iona l’ en t ity of sor t s.’’189 

Abramoff could on ly respond, ‘‘No, don’t  do tha t . I don’t  want  a  
sn iper  let terhead.’’190 

Abramoff’s use of CAF cont inued to ra ise a la rm among h is t ax 
advisors. On November  11, 2002, Halpern  wrote specifica lly about  
the payments to Ben  Zvi: 

[W]e need to work th is in to the tax exempt  purpose of the 
Foundat ion . More to come on  th is subject  in  an  email to-
morrow or  so. [The account ing firm of May and Barnhard] 
is fin ish ing the 2001 return  and read me the r iot  act  on  
some of the stuff tha t  we a re doing. We need to ‘‘fix’’ the 
holes.191 

Abramoff’s solu t ion  was not  to cease the quest ionable act ivity; 
ra ther , he chose to concea l it  with  a  paper  t ransact ion . Abramoff 
advised Ben  Zvi, ‘‘The other  th ing is tha t , if possible, it  would be 
easier  for  me to get  you  funds th rough a  kollel over  there or  some-
th ing like tha t . my [sic] accountan t  is very unhappy with  the way 
we have done th is, th rough our  founda t ion  which  was not  set  up 
for  these kinds of act ivit ies.’’192 

Ben  Zvi advised Abramoff, ‘‘Anyone can  have a  Kollel here. If I 
set  up the account  name in  the name of a  Kollel and send you  pa-
pers with  a  Kollel sta t ionary would tha t  work?’’193 

When Abramoff shared Ben  Zvi’s hardsh ip with  h is t ax planner  
Gail Halpern , Halpern  suggested ways to make the t ransact ion  
pass muster  on  paper , a lthough she knew the u lt imate recipien t  
and use of the payments.194 

Near ly one month  la ter , Abramoff asked Ben  Zvi to ‘‘set  up an  
account  for  a  kollel and get  me the in fo so we can  send the $ [sic] 
there from now on .’’195 Later  tha t  same day, Halpern  advised 
Abramoff on  the need to rou te the money through another  inst itu -
t ion : 



217 

196 Email from Gail Halpern , May & Barnhard, to J ack Abramoff, Greenberg Traur ig (GTG– 
E000088619) (December  24, 2002). 

197 Email between  J ack Abramoff, Greenberg Traur ig, and Shmuel Ben  Zvi, Kollel Ohel 
Tieferet  (GTG–E000088618) (December  26, 2002). 

198 Email from Shmuel Ben  Zvi, Kollel Ohel Tieferet , to J ack Abramoff, Greenberg Traur ig 
(GTG–E000088616) (December  27, 2002). 

199 Email from Gail Halpern , May & Barnhard, to J ack Abramoff, Greenberg Traur ig (GTG– 
E000088619) (December  24, 2002) (emphasis added). 

200 Id . 
201 May & Barnhard document  product ion  (MB–001952) (December  31, 2002). 
202 Id . 

[B]u t  let ’s t ry to figure it  ou t  in  a  way where we don’t  
screw up the founda t ion . we [sic] need to get  the money to 
a  501c3 [sic] or  an  educa t iona l inst itu t ion , not  direct ly to 
h im. can  [sic] you  ask h im if he can  work someth ing out  
w/the kollel so the money goes from the kollel to h im? 196 

When Ben Zvi repor ted to Abramoff tha t  the bank from which  he 
had obta ined the loan  for  the jeep insisted the money cont inue to 
go through Ben Zvi’s account , Abramoff responded: 

They a re being r idicu lous. t ell [sic] them tha t  a ll the 
money will come in to the Kollel account , which  can  be in  
their  bank. Same amount  of money, bu t  CAF cannot  make 
the payments direct ly to you . must  [sic] be to the kollel.197 

Ben  Zvi soon  succeeded. On December  27, 2002, in  an  email en t i-
t led ‘‘CAF/Shmuel payments,’’ he sen t  wir ing informat ion  to 
Abramoff for  the ‘‘KOLLEL OHEL TIFERET (For : Shmuel Ben  
Zvi).’’198 

When Abramoff advised Halpern  tha t  Ben  Zvi would do the 
kollel, Halpern  inst ructed, ‘‘[H]e needs to give us the name and 
bank account  in fo. and [sic] can  the jeep payments go to the kollel 
as well, a s well as all the other m ilitary expenses that don’t look  
good  on  the Foundation’s books?’’199 Halpern  fur ther  suggested 
tha t  ‘‘a t  the end of the year , he’ll need to wr ite us a  let ter  on  Kollel 
sta t ionary thanking the Foundat ion  for  the money to promote their  
educa t iona l purpose.’’200 

Of the near ly $100,000 booked on  CAF’s ledger  as cont r ibu t ions 
to Kollel Ohel Tiferet , not  a ll were payments to Ben  Zvi either  di-
rect ly or  th rough the Kollel account . Listed under  the Kollel en t ry 
of CAF’s ledgers a re sizable reimbursements of a  number  of Green-
berg Traur ig employees: Allison  Bozniak, Hillel Broder , Holly Bow-
ers, and Laura  Lippy.201 The reimbursements appear  to be for  the 
purchase of ‘‘books,’’ ‘‘videos,’’ ‘‘supplies,’’ ‘‘camera ,’’ ‘‘ligh t /photon  
supplies,’’ ‘‘custom su it  expense’’ and ‘‘ligh ts and a la rms,’’ appar -
en t ly in tended for  paramilita ry use.202 

The ‘‘custom su it  expense’’ on  CAF’s books is cur ious. The ‘‘cus-
tom su it ’’ is a  gh ili su it , tha t  is, camouflage apparel, typica lly used 
by sn ipers. According to one email from Ben Zvi to Hillel Broder , 
apparen t ly a  former  Greenberg Traur ig employee: 

Hillel, I want  to order  a  GHILLI SUIT [sic]. from [sic] th is 
company so tha t  we have a  basic st ructure to copy from. 
These a re made well and will help us to no end. 
I want  to get  the FULL MILITARY GHILI SUIT [sic] in  
(ligh t ) BROWN DICIDOUS [sic] colors just  like the one 
display in  the photo on  their  sit e. 
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The sizes go by BDU (ba t t le dress un iform) So [sic] the 
bot tom should be XXX long and the top should be XXXX 
long. 
Now the order  form on  their  sit e gives a  buba  misa  about  
these su it s needing a  specia l sta te depar tment  licence and 
blah , blah , blah . 
These su it s a re used by goyim who do a lot  [sic] of hunt ing. 
PLEASE [sic] don’t  get  freaked out  about  th is warn ing, 
su it s of simila r  design  can  be bought  from any of the hunt -
ing supply ca ta logs. 
Anyway when you  box it  up and send it  to me, send it  as 
THE GRANDMOTHER TREE COSTUME [sic] for  the play 
POCAHONTAS [sic].203 

Ben  Zvi fur ther  advised tha t  should Broder  need ‘‘to ca ll them 
and they ask you  what  you  need it  for  just  t ell them tha t  it  is a  
presen t  for  a  rela t ive who goes DEER HUNTING [sic].’’204 Scr ib-
bled upon  the return  email is one word: ‘‘Orderd’’ [sic].205 

Broder  a lso apparen t ly ordered other  sn iper  parapherna lia  for  
Ben  Zvi, for  which  he was reimbursed by CAF. According to in -
voices from Blackhawk Indust r ies, Inc., Broder  purchased tact ica l 
hydra t ion  tubes, web gear , shooters mats, sn iper  mats, and sn iper  
clean ing kit s.206 Holly Bowers, Abramoff’s assistan t , apparen t ly 
pa id for  some of the it ems Broder  ordered for  Ben  Zvi. On J u ly 23, 
2002, Bowers listed in  her  da ily wrap-up list  on  it em 12: ‘‘Gave 
Hillel my credit  ca rd number  to order  the an t i-ter ror ism lit era ture 
for  your  fr iend in  Israel.’’207 Bowers simila r ly included in  her  Au-
gust  12, 2002 list  in  it em 14: ‘‘Gave Hillel my credit  ca rd to order  
th ings for  Shmuel.’’208 

Other , cur ious expenditures a re on  CAF’s account ing ledger . To 
name a  few, 

• Abramoff spent  another  $10,000 on  The Lexington  Group 
in  Apr il and May 2002.209 On it s website, The Lexington  
Group cla imed to pract ice ‘‘in  a ll a reas of legisla t ive represen-
ta t ion .’’210 Abramoff descr ibed it  as ‘‘just  someth ing i have set  
up with  a  guy who gt  [Greenberg Traur ig] would not  h ire bu t  
who will do a  lot  of business.’’211 

• Abramoff spent  $50,000 on  an  ice r ink for  Eshkol.212 
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• In  2002, CAF spent  $67,685 on  a  Spy Museum Fund-
ra iser .213 Despite the la rge expenditures, the fundra iser  appar -
en t ly never  occur red.214 

• CAF funds were apparen t ly pa id to Livsar , the company 
tha t  owned and opera ted Abramoff’s Signa tures restauran t . On 
J anuary 3, 2002, Rodney Lane, Abramoff’s former  assistan t  
who left  Greenberg Traur ig to set  up the restauran t , advised 
Abramoff of a  ‘‘5 minute t ransfer  from CAF to Livsar .’’215 

F. IN 2003, ABRAMOFF FUNNELS TRIBAL MONEY THROUGH CONDUITS 
TO CAF 

CAF’s 2003 Form 990PF does not  list  any Tr ibe as a  donor .216 
The major  donors listed on  CAF’s 2003 Form 990PF are: 

• Kaygold, LLC—$47,891 
• IIA—$500,000 
• Nat iona l Center  for  Public Policy Research—$250,000 
• Atlan t ic Research  & Analysis—$950,000 
• Sony Elect ron ics, Inc.—$6,000 
• J ack Abramoff—$400,000 217 

Never theless, the Commit tee has found substan t ia l evidence estab-
lish ing tha t  the a lleged cont r ibu t ions from Kaygold and At lan t ic 
Research  & Analysis (‘‘ARA’’) were actua lly funds from Indian  
Tr ibes. 
1. Kaygold  S ends T ribal Funds to CAF 

According to Kaygold’s bank sta tements, Kaygold’s pr imary 
source of income was Scanlon’s companies. Thus, the $47,891 ‘‘con-
t r ibu t ion’’ was actua lly fru it s of the ‘‘gimme five’’ scheme. 
2. Abram off and  S canlon  Use AR A as a Conduit T o Funnel Lou-

isiana Coushatta Funds to CAF 
From it s review of banking and account ing records, the Com-

mit tee finds tha t  the money a llegedly from ARA is actua lly money 
from the Louisiana  Cousha t ta . Scanlon’s r igh t -hand man, Chr is-
topher  Cathcar t , apparen t ly set  up ARA solely to run  through pay-
ments from the Louisiana  Cousha t ta . 

As he had in  2001, Scanlon  sta r ted th is scam with  another  
memorandum. According to a  J anuary 21, 2003, memorandum pre-
pared by Scanlon  for  then-Tr iba l Vice-Chairman William Worfel on  
the Louisiana  Polit ica l Program, ARA was a llegedly established as 
a  fron t  en t ity to provide cover  to Worfel and then-Chief Poncho po-
lit ica lly by concea ling tha t  the Louisiana  Cousha t ta  was st ill pay-
ing Scanlon .218 Scanlon  a t tached invoices to the memorandum 
‘‘tha t  direct  the funds to severa l differen t  en t it ies tha t  will play dif-
feren t  roles in  th is campaign  a long with  a  let ter  from Me/CCS in-
forming the t r ibe tha t  I will no longer  be providing the polit ica l 
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services to the t r ibe as I have in  the past .’’219 Regarding ARA spe-
cifica lly, Scanlon  wrote: 

ARA will be the en t ity to conduct  a ll the market  ana lysis, 
polling, dist r ict  research , opposit ion  research  and genera l 
st ra tegy. ARA will a lso be tha t  pr imary funding en t ity for  
the campaign; Meaning tha t  th is is where the lions share 
of the money will go, and then  ARA can  sub-cont ract  or  
h ire CCS to conduct  st ra tegic funct ions for  the cam-
pa ign .220 

On J anuary 21, 2003, the same day as h is memorandum to 
Worfel, Scanlon  asked Cathcar t , ‘‘Can  you  get  A [sic] DBA on  the 
Scanlon  CM account  tha t  is At lan t ic Research  and Analysis.’’221 

The next  day, Ca thcar t  in formed Scanlon: ‘‘[I] am going to have 
J D [Scanlon’s accountan t  J eremy Diehl] set  up a  new llc [sic] for  
a ra  [sic] ... r eason  is tha t  ScM has it s own unique tax sta tus as a  
commercia l rea l esta te lessor . [S]o, added liability protect ion  and 
smar ter  for  t ax reasoins [sic] to keep separa te. [W]ill not  impact  
our  ability to collect  the dough from coush  [Cousha t ta ].’’222 

Two hours la ter , Scanlon  au thor ized Cathcar t  to establish  the 
new ent ity.223 The Commit tee has found no corpora te regist ra t ion  
or  other  filing for  ARA in  Maryland, Delaware, or  the Dist r ict  of 
Columbia  establish ing tha t  ARA was ever  incorpora ted. The Com-
mit tee has determined tha t  ARA opened a  bank account  on  or  
about  Apr il 1, 2003.224 

Meanwhile, Abramoff and Scanlon  were on  the move. In  an  ap-
paren t  effor t  to avoid taxes on  h is t ake, Abramoff wanted Scanlon  
to have the Cousha t ta  send h is share of the ‘‘gimme five’’ funds di-
rect ly to CAF. Abramoff told Halpern , h is t ax adviser , tha t  he 
would soon  have $1,000,000 for  CAF ‘‘direct ly from Cousha t ta .’’225 

Abramoff directed Scanlon: ‘‘P lease make sure the next  $1M from 
Cousha t ta  for  me goes to Eshkol Academy direct ly. P lease tell them 
tha t  we a re ‘using the school as our  conduit  for  some act ivit ies.’ If 
tha t  won’t  fly with  them, use CAF, or  Nat iona l Center  for  Public 
Policy Research .’’226 

The following month , Abramoff asked Scanlon  ‘‘did we get  the 
Cousha t ta  money?’’ and implored Scanlon , ‘‘Can  you  please please 
please get  it  wr it t en  to Eshkol Academy?’’227 Abramoff aga in  sug-
gested tha t  Scanlon  ‘‘[t ]ell them tha t ’s our  fron t  group to cover  
some of th is.’’228 Scanlon  agreed to do so.229 
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On  or  about  Apr il 15, 2003, Scanlon  submit ted a  $2,000,000 in-
voice to the Louisiana  Cousha t ta  in  the name of ARA, a long with  
invoices from h is other  groups.230 The address listed on  the invoice 
for  ARA—53 Balt imore Avenue, Rehoboth  Beach , DE 19971—was 
the clapboard house from which  another  Scanlon  en t ity, the Amer-
ican  In terna t iona l Center , opera ted.231 Worfel, the Louisiana  
Cousha t ta ’s Vice-Chairman a t  the t ime, was led to believe tha t  
ARA was ‘‘just  another  en t ity of Greenberg ... tha t  they opera te 
under .’’232 Worfel understood ARA was one of many fron t -groups 
tha t  Abramoff and Scanlon  used so the Tr ibe’s polit ica l opposit ion  
would not  know what  they were doing.233 

Abramoff st ill wanted Scanlon  to have the Tr ibe send h is par t  of 
the ‘‘gimme five’’ payments to CAF.234 While Scanlon  awaited a r -
r iva l of the funds, Abramoff told Scanlon , ‘‘I rea lly need to get  
those funds in to Eshkol asap.’’235 Scanlon  advised Abramoff tha t  
he could not  guaran tee the payment  would go to CAF, and was cer -
ta in  the money would not  be rou ted direct ly to Eshkol because he 
could not  find ‘‘any invoices on  the school.’’236 

On May 1, 2003, ARA received a  $2,000,000 wire t ransfer  from 
the Louisiana  Cousha t ta .237 Scanlon  advised Abramoff in  a  May 5 
email en t it led ‘‘Coush!’’: ‘‘Hey FYI—Cousha t ta  has pa id for  the 
Louisiana  2003 program in  fu ll now. If it ’s ok—I th ink it  would be 
wise to hold back a  bit  for  a  ra iny day (100 or  so to cover  oper -
a t ions), other  than  tha t  please tell me where to send the funds.’’238 

Abramoff inst ructed Scanlon  to send it  to CAF.239 
When Abramoff did not  receive the money, he asked Scanlon  on  

May 6, ‘‘Did we get  th is money yet? I am in  urgent  need of 
funds.’’240 

Scanlon  assured Abramoff tha t  he would ‘‘have a  check tomorrow 
a t  your  office via  cour ier !’’241 

True to h is word, on  May 7, 2003, Scanlon  inst ructed Cathcar t  
to ‘‘cu t  a  check to Capita l Ath let ic Foundat ion  for  950k.’’242 
Ca thcar t  responded, ‘‘950? Wow. It  will come from a t lan t ic research  
[sic]. I will pay Ccs [sic] ou t  of the rest .’’243 According to ARA’s 



222 

244 Wachovia  document  product ion  (D00521–22) (May 1, 2003–May 30, 2003). 
245 May & Barnhard document  product ion  (MB–000252) (December  31, 2003). 
246 Beis Avrohom Chaim, Ar t icles of Incorpora t ion . 
247 Id . For  reasons unknown to the Commit tee, Rodney Lane, Abramoff’s former  execut ive as-

sistan t  who was inst rumenta l in  set t ing up the Signa tures restauran t , subsequent ly replaced 
Abramoff’s wife as a  t rustee. S ee Art icles of Amendment  for  a  Religious Corpora t ion , for  Beis 
Avrohom Chaim. 

248 Id . 
249 May & Barnhard document  product ion  (MB–00255) (December  31, 2003). 
250 Id . 
251 Id . 
252 Id . 
253 Com pare May & Barnhard document  product ion  (MB–00255) (December  31, 2003), with  

Capita l Ath let ic Foundat ion , 2003 Form 990. 
254 Deed, J u ly 10, 2003 between  Benjamin  L. Allen , PR and Mar ie-Louise Allen  Kempe, PR 

of the Esta te of Mar ie Louise Allen , Esta te no. W–37905 as to 1⁄2 in terest  and Mar ie Louise 
Allen  and J ames S. Allen , by Benjamin  L. Allen , h is At torney-in-fact , as to 1⁄2 in terest , as t en-
an ts in  common as to the whole to Beis Avrohom Chaim. The proper ty is apparen t ly down the 
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bank records, ARA executed a  check for  $950,000.244 Abramoff de-
posited the $950,000 in to CAF’s bank account  on  May 8, 2003.245 
3. Abram off’s Use of CAF Funds in  2003 

In  2003, Abramoff used CAF as he had before. According to the 
2003 Form 990PF, Abramoff directed CAF to pay: 
Eshkol Academy ..................................................................................... $2,366,512 
Beis Avrohom Chaim ............................................................................. $251,242 
Kollel Ohel Tiferet ................................................................................. $44,220 
Amer ican  Fr iends of Lubavitch ............................................................ $10,000 
The DeLay Foundat ion  for  Kids ........................................................... $25,000 
Bais Yaakov Brooklyn ........................................................................... $20,000 

Tota l ................................................................................................. $2,716,974 

Abramoff’s Eshkol Academy was aga in  the biggest  beneficia ry, 
receiving 87% of CAF’s gran ts. Kollel Ohel Tiferet , the paper  en t ity 
established by Abramoff’s fr iend in  Israel, received another  
$44,000. 

Beis Avrohom Chaim is another  Abramoff en t ity tha t  received 
CAF funding. According to the a r t icles of incorpora t ion , Beis 
Avrohom Chaim was incorpora ted in  J une 2003 under  Maryland 
law as a  religious corpora t ion .246 The t rustees were J ack Abramoff 
and h is wife; Shana  Tesler , a  former  Greenberg Traur ig employee 
who worked closely with  Abramoff; and, her  husband Sam Hook.247 
The pr incipa l place of worsh ip listed in  it s a r t icles of incorpora t ion  
is Abramoff’s home address.248 

According to Beis Avrohom Chaim’s Genera l Ledger , tota l con-
t r ibu t ions from CAF tota led $251,242 in  2003.249 Two payments 
made on  J u ly 10, 2003, for  $241,250 a re descr ibed as cont r ibu t ions 
from CAF.250 Another  payment  on  August  5, 2003, for  $2,500 is de-
scr ibed as payment  by CAF for  professiona l services.251 A fina l 
payment  of $7,492 on  August  8, 2003 is descr ibed as mor tgage rec-
orda t ion  fees rela ted to a  mor tgage closing.252 The tota l listed on  
Beis Avrohom Chaim’s genera l ledger—$251,242—matches the 
amount  of dona t ions listed on  CAF’s Form 990.253 

Incorpora ted as a  religious corpora t ion , Beis Avrohom Chaim ap-
pears to be a  holding company for  rea l esta te. According to a  deed 
filed in  Montgomery County, Maryland, on  J u ly 10, 2003, Beis 
Avrohom Chaim purchased proper ty a t  800 Edelblu t  Dr ive, Silver  
Spr ing Maryland (close to Abramoff’s home) for  $845,000.254 On 
CAF’s 2003 Form 990, Abramoff descr ibed Beis Avrohom Chaim as 
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a  ‘‘religious organiza t ion , [tha t ] provides religious services for  the 
congrega t ion  and housing for  the Eshkol Academy student  a th-
letes.’’255 

As it  had for  2002, for  2003 CAF a lso listed substan t ia l expenses 
associa ted with  t ravel, conferences, and meet ing: $251,163.256 
Abramoff used approximately $150,000 of CAF’s funds to finance 
another  t r ip to Scot land.257 Abramoff a lso spent  over  $100,000 on  
the Spy Museum Event  tha t  apparen t ly did not  t ake place.258 

G. CONCLUSION 
Despite the self-serving sta tements about  ‘‘eth ica l conduct ’’ and 

helping ‘‘disadvantaged youth’’ on  CAF’s website, the Commit tee 
finds tha t  Abramoff used CAF as h is persona l slush  fund. In  plead-
ing guilty to tax evasion , Abramoff admit ted tha t  he ‘‘misrepre-
sen ted the receipt  of diver ted funds [from the Tr ibes] as char itable 
dona t ions and mischaracter ized persona l and business expendi-
tures as being used for  a  t ax exempt  purpose.’’259 He fur ther  con-
fessed tha t  he ‘‘engaged in  simila r  evasive conduct  for  the tax years 
2001 and 2003. Due to th is and other  evasive conduct , Abramoff a t -
tempted to evade approximately $1,724,054 in  individua l income 
taxes for  the 2001 through 2003 tax years.’’260 


